Decision				

#### BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Investigation on the Commission's Own Motion Into the Status, Rates, Rules, Operations, Service, Facilities, Contracts, and Practices of the Union Pacific Railroad Company in the Supply, Distribution, and Sale of Water by the Keene Water System to the Communities of Keene and Woodford in Kern County.

Investigation 00-05-020 (Filed May 18, 2000)

(See Appendix B for a list of appearances.)

OPINION FINDING KEENE WATER SYSTEM DEDICATED TO PUBLIC USE

119007 - 1 -

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title		Page
OPINIO	N FINDING KEENE WATER SYSTEM DEDICATED TO PUBLIC	USE 1
I.	Procedural Background	
II.	Historical Background	
III.	Position of Union Pacific	
IV.	Position of ORA	
V.	Position of Stonybrook Corporation	6
VI.	Position of Beard	
VII.	Discussion	7
VIII.	Remaining Issues	12
	A. Water Rate	
	1. Operating Cost	13
	2. Depreciation and Return on Capital	13
	3. Water Consumption	16
	4. Water Rates	
	B. Abandonment of Service	17
IX.	Objections to Stonybrook's Testimony	
X.	Comments on Proposed Decision	
	A. Estoppel	18
	B. Customers	20
	C. Abandonment of Service	
	D. Dedication	
	E. Rates	
	F. Keene Housing	
U	s of Fact	
	ions of Law	
	Upper and Lower Keene Groups Agreements	i
2.	National Farm Workers Service Center/Stonybrook	
	Corporation Agreements	
	Kern County Fire Department Agreement	
	Cummings Settlement Agreement	
	Schneider and Barker (Three Peaks Ranch) Easement	
	Tony Martin Connection	iv
APPEN		
APPEN!		
APPENI	DIX C	

This decision addresses the issue of whether the Keene Water System operated by Union Pacific Railroad Company (Union Pacific or Respondent) has been dedicated to public use. We find that a dedication has occurred and that Union Pacific is operating a public utility water system in the communities of Keene and Woodford in Kern County. Further, we set new interim water rates.

#### I. Procedural Background

On May 18, 2000, we issued an order instituting investigation (OII) to determine whether the Keene Water System, which is currently operated by Union Pacific, is a public utility water system, as defined by Section 2701 of the Public Utilities Code.<sup>1</sup>

This Commission has never regulated the Keene Water System as a public utility. However, based on the information in the declarations of employees of the Department of Health Services and of Commission staff member, the OII stated that the Keene Water System may by its conduct have become a public utility as described in Section 2701 and, thus, subject to the Commission's jurisdiction. Accordingly, the Commission, on its own motion, instituted this investigation.

As noted in exhibits to our investigation, this matter is also in Kern County Superior Court where the California Department of Health Services (DHS) has petitioned to appoint a receiver. DHS has found an individual who has experience in operating the Keene Water System and who has agreed to be appointed receiver. The court ordered Union Pacific not to abandon ownership of the Keene Water System, to continue to operate and maintain it, and to

 $^{\rm 1}\,$  Unless otherwise stated, all statutory references are to the Public Utilities Code.

- 2 -

continue to provide water to existing residents and customers pending the results of the Commission's investigation and further hearing on the petition.

Today's decision examines whether the operation of the water system has changed over the intervening years, as the railroad's water use for railroad operations declined and ceased altogether, and the railroad entered into agreements with various customers and modified and updated the system.

Two days of hearings were held on February 13 - 14, 2001, and two public participation hearings were held on August 4, 2000, and January 29, 2001. No customers were present at the first PPH. At the second PPH, several customers, including Bridget Beard (Beard), expressed their concerns about poor water quality, resale prospects for their homes, and the connection of Tony Martin to the line as a special favor when others similarly situated had requested and been denied a direct connection. The following parties presented testimony: Union Pacific; the Office of Ratepayer Advocates, Water Branch (ORA); Stonybrook Corporation (Stonybrook); and Beard. The assigned administrative law judge granted Stonybrook and Beard leave to serve testimony late and ORA leave to serve supplemental testimony. Parties filed opening briefs on March 12, 2001, and reply briefs on March 19, 2001.

#### II. Historical Background

Union Pacific and its predecessor have operated the Keene Water System for over 80 years. Originally, the system served the railroad's steam locomotives. The Keene Water System is the sole remaining segment of Southern Pacific

Transportation Company's (SP)<sup>2</sup> former water supply line that ran from Tehachapi to Caliente. The water supply line was installed in the early 1900's.

During the era of steam locomotives, SP constructed, operated and maintained a water system mainly for the purpose of supplying water for steam locomotives and railroad facilities. A pipeline carried water from the City of Tehachapi to railroad facilities in Keene. During this time, the railroad provided water to a variety of users.

In the 1960's, with the retirement of steam locomotives, the railroad's need for water in the area substantially diminished. SP continued to supply water to its existing customers, and provided water to certain additional neighbors when they encountered difficulties with their own water supplies.

In 1972, this water supply system was deemed a public water system subject to the State's drinking water regulatory program, and a public water supply permit was issued to Keene Water System. The Kern County Environmental Health Services Department administered the State's Safe Drinking Water Programs for water systems in Kern County with fewer than 200 connections (such as Keene). On July 1, 1993, DHS assumed those responsibilities and commenced direct regulatory oversight of the safety of the Keene Water System's supply.<sup>3</sup>

Stonybrook filed a complaint at the Commission in 1989. We required SP to supply water to Stonybrook during the pendency of the complaint. We

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In 1996, Union Pacific merged with SP, and thereby acquired the Keene Water System.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Regulation by DHS is more limited than the regulation to which the Keene Water System would be subject if found to be a public utility. As a "public water system," the Keene Water system will continue to be subject to the State's drinking water standards regardless of whether it is a public utility.

dismissed the complaint in 1997, without prejudice, for lack of prosecution.

Union Pacific's witness Whitcomb notes that Union Pacific continued to provide water to Stonybrook, as Union Pacific and Stonybrook worked to find a new owner for the Keene Water System.

#### III. Position of Union Pacific

In early 1994, SP abandoned the pipeline that brought water down the railroad's right of way from Tehachapi to Keene. Union Pacific alleges this occurred in order to lower tunnels on the rail line to allow for double stack containers carried on rail cars. The water line from Tehachapi was destroyed.

In 1994, following the removal of the water line, SP drilled new water supply wells in Keene, which were tied into the existing water storage and distribution system. In 1997, Union Pacific (which had merged with SP in 1996) performed substantial repairs to the system. At that time, Union Pacific was not using the water for its own needs. Union Pacific asserts it spent \$609,226 to replace the original water distribution lines in order to bring the water system into compliance with the requirements imposed by DHS.

The record discloses several agreements under which SP or Union Pacific has provided water from the Keene Water System. A summary of these agreements is contained in Appendix A. Union Pacific argues that these agreements demonstrate that Union Pacific never intended to dedicate its water system to public use. Rather, Union Pacific contends that these agreements show an explicit intent to provide water only as an "accommodation" under Section 2704.

#### IV. Position of ORA

ORA contends that by "developing, storing, supplying, distributing and selling water for irrigational, municipal and domestic use" the Keene Water

System has become a public utility water system subject to the Commission's regulation. ORA argues that Union Pacific's claim that water is provided only as an accommodation should be dismissed because water was provided following abandonment in 1994 of the pipeline from Tehachapi.

Further, ORA argues that Union Pacific drilled new wells for the exclusive purpose of serving existing Keene Water System customers. ORA also argues that since Keene Water System no longer provides any service to Union Pacific, the system has been dedicated to public use.

#### V. Position of Stonybrook Corporation

Stonybrook asserts that the act of deliberately engaging in the business of producing and selling water to residents in Keene and Woodford constitutes a dedication of the Keene Water System for public use, and thereby subjects the system to the jurisdiction of this Commission.

Stonybrook also claims a dedication has occurred because the operation of the Keene Water System has been for the "sole and exclusive" benefit of the communities of Keene and Woodford. Further, a dedication has occurred because Union Pacific drilled new wells to provide water to the community of Keene and not to support any railroad operation. Specifically, Stonybrook asserts that by the abandonment of the Tehachapi pipeline in 1994 and the development of a new water system and sources so as to continue to supply water to Keene and Woodford customers, Union Pacific showed its intent to act as a public water utility regardless of its contractual relationships, and in fact dedicated its system for the public's benefit.

Stonybrook also asserts that Union Pacific's predecessor, SP, dedicated the Keene Water System facilities for public use when it submitted an application dated November 22, 1996, to the Kern County Board of Supervisors for a

non-exclusive road franchise agreement to construct a new delivery line for the Keene Water System, on a Kern County roadway. In its franchise application, SP represented to the Board of Supervisors that the new pipeline would be used to "furnish water for railroad use and for community use."

#### VI. Position of Beard

Beard contends that Union Pacific's operation of Keene Water System falls within the statutory definition of a water utility. Beard contends that Section 2704 does not exempt Union Pacific because the water is not "primarily used for domestic or industrial purposes" by Union Pacific. Beard argues that once the railroad was no longer the primary user of the water distributed by the Keene Water System, the railroad's sale of the water distributed by the Keene Water System no longer qualified as an "accommodation" as defined in Section 2704, and the railroad became a public utility under Section 2701.

#### VII. Discussion

Before we decide whether a dedication of property to public use has occurred, we note the impact our decision will have on the local community. The record reflects that most of the housing in Keene was built by the railroad for its employees. The railroad subsequently sold those houses to non-employees. Nothing provided prospective house buyers with constructive notice of the railroad's intention to provide the water strictly on a surplus basis and as an accommodation. Most current homeowners purchased their homes believing the railroad would continue to provide water for the community. Currently, the community is highly dependent on the Keene Water System for its water needs since every resident of Keene and Woodford except the U.S. Postal Services uses water from the Keene Water System.

The key issue is whether the Keene Water System is a "public utility" under the Public Utilities Code. If it is, the system comes under our jurisdiction. The Commission's power to regulate corporations operating water systems relies chiefly on Sections 216 and 2701. Sections 216 lists the different types of public utilities and includes, in relevant part:

- "(a) . . . every . . water corporation . . . where the service is performed for, or the commodity is delivered to, the public or any portion thereof.
- (b) Whenever any . . . water corporation . . . performs a service for, or delivers a commodity to, the public or any portion thereof for which any compensation or payment whatsoever is received, that . . . water corporation . . . is a public utility subject to the jurisdiction, control, and regulation of the commission and the provisions of this part."

Section 2701 defines a Commission-regulated water utility:

"Any person, firm, or corporation ... owning, controlling, operating, or managing any water system within this State, who sells, leases, rents, or delivers water to any person, firm, corporation, municipality, or any other political subdivision of the State, whether under contract or otherwise, is a public utility, and is subject to the provisions of Part 1 of Division 1 and to the jurisdiction, control, and regulation of the commission, except as otherwise provided in this chapter."

Sections 216 and 2701 must be read in conjunction with Section 2704, which contains exceptions to Commission jurisdiction, for situations where the owner of a water supply provides surplus water or water as an "accommodation":

"Any owner of a water supply not otherwise dedicated to public use and primarily used for domestic or industrial purposes by him or for the irrigation of his lands, who (a) sells or delivers the surplus of such water . . . or (c) sells or delivers a portion of such water supply as a matter of accommodation to neighbors to whom no other supply of water . . . is equally

available, is not subject to the jurisdiction, control, and regulation of the commission."

Another exception to Commission jurisdiction results from judicial decisions. Specifically, in 1912, the California Supreme Court applied a requirement of common law, not expressed in these statutes today or as previously codified, that conditions public utility status on the "dedication" of utility property to the public use. (See *Thayer v California Development Co.* (1912) 164 Cal. 117.) Later, in *Allen v. Railroad Commission* (1918) 179 Cal. 68, 85, the Court wrote that "to hold property has been dedicated to public use is not trivial thing . . . and such dedication is never presumed without evidence of unequivocal intention." The Court later explained that the act of dedication occurs if someone had:

"held himself out, expressly or impliedly, as engaged in the business of supplying [a service or commodity] to the public as a class, not necessarily to all of the public, but to any limited portion of it, such portion, for example, as could be served by his own system, as counterdistinguished from his holding himself out as serving or ready to serve only particular individuals, either as a matter of accommodation or for other reasons peculiar and particular to them."

(Van Hoosear v Railroad Commission (1920) 184 Cal. 553, 554.)

In *Richfield Oil Corp. v Public Utilities Commission* (1960) 54 Cal.2d 419, the Court reviewed the case law and left the dedication doctrine intact. The Court concluded that "the Legislature by its repeated reenactment of the definitions of the public utilities without change has accepted and adopted dedication as an implicit limitation on their terms." (*Id.* at 430.)

While we acknowledge that dedication is a prerequisite to declaring a water system to be a public utility, dedication can be manifested in many different ways. Whether or not dedication has occurred is a factual question.

(Haynes v. MacFarlane (1929) 207 Cal. 529, 532.) Where dedication has occurred, it may be either express or implied, and in the latter case, "it may be inferred from the acts of the owner and his dealings and relations to the property." (Cal. Water & Tel. Co. v. Public Utilities Commission (1959) 51 Cal.2d 478, 494; see also Yucaipa Water Co. No. 1 v. Public Utilities Commission (1960) 54 Cal.2d 823.)

Neither Union Pacific nor its predecessor has manifested an *express* intent to dedicate the Keene Water System to public use. To the contrary, the agreements contained in Appendix A reflect a written intent on the part of Union Pacific and its predecessor to provide water only as an accommodation. Therefore, if we are to find that a dedication has occurred, it must be implied from the acts of Union Pacific or its predecessor. Here, there is a long course of conduct by Union Pacific and SP from which implied dedication arises. For example:

- since the 1960s, water has been sold for the primary use of the community and not the railroad;
- in 1994, existing plant was removed and replaced with a new well for the primary benefit of the community and not the railroad; and
- in 1996, SP applied for a non-exclusive franchise agreement to construct a pipeline on county roadway to furnish water for railroad and community use.

In this instance and many others, the Commission and the courts have found dedication implied by conduct. For instance, in *Producers Transp. Co. v. Railroad Commission* (1917) 176 Cal. 499, the dedication of an oil pipeline to a public use was implied from the corporation installing the pipeline via eminent domain. This case parallels *Producers Transportation*. There, the Court stated that a "potent reason" for upholding the finding of implied dedication was the fact that petitioner availed itself of the right of eminent domain in condemning

property for the right of way over which it constructed its pipeline. The Court stated such action:

must be deemed conclusive evidence of a dedication of such property to public use, since it could not have exercised such right other than in "behalf of a public use" (Code Civ. Proc., sec. 1238), as "an agent of the state or person in charge of such use." (Civ. Code, sec. 1001.)

A similar rationale applies to franchises. Municipalities grant franchises for the purpose of furnishing a service or commodity for the public use. (*See* Cal. Gov. Code Section 26001.)<sup>4</sup> Public use is defined as "a use which concerns the whole community or promotes the general interest in its relation to any legitimate object of government." (*Bauer v. County of Ventura* (1955) 45 Cal.2d 276, 284.) Thus, the exercise of a franchise right to install a water line is tantamount to a declaration that such property is for public use. By requesting a franchise from Kern County to build a water pipeline to furnish water for community use, Union Pacific's predecessors implicitly dedicated the water pipeline to public use.<sup>5</sup>

Having found that a dedication has occurred, we conclude that the Keene Water System falls under the jurisdiction of this Commission as a water utility. Further, we agree with Beard that Section 2704 does not exempt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Cal. Gov. Code § 26001 says in relevant part,

<sup>&</sup>quot;Any general law applicable to the granting of franchises by municipal corporations and counties throughout the State for purposes involving the furnishing of any service or commodity to the public or any portion thereof shall be complied with in the granting of any franchises by the board of supervisors."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although the franchise application states that the water pipeline will also serve the railroad, the record shows that the railroad has not primarily used its water for its own purposes since the 1960's.

Union Pacific. Section 2704 only exempts an owner of a water supply from Commission jurisdiction if such water supply is "primarily used for domestic or industrial purposes" by the owner of the water supply or for the irrigation of the owner's lands. Union Pacific, as operator of the Keene Water System, and its predecessor cannot claim an exemption under Section 2704 since they have not been the primary user of the water supply for almost four decades.

We therefore hold that the Keene Water System is a water utility subject to our jurisdiction. Until further notice, Union Pacific should continue to serve all existing customers as of May 18, 2000, when we initiated this OII.

#### VIII. Remaining Issues

In this investigation we stated we would determine whether:

- The terms and conditions of Union Pacific's service are just and reasonable:
- Union Pacific should file tariffs for furnishing water; and
- Union Pacific's abandonment of service would be in the public interest.

#### A. Water Rate

Union Pacific currently charges customers \$4.00 per thousand gallons of water used. Union Pacific requests that the Commission establish a new rate of \$21.42 per thousand gallons. ORA proposes a rate of \$11.80 per thousand gallons for residential customers.

Union Pacific determined its total costs as follows:

TOTAL COST	\$228,763
Return on Capital (9%)	\$55,468
Depreciation	\$20,543
Operating Costs	\$152,752

#### 1. Operating Cost

Union Pacific used 1999 recorded costs of \$152,752 to determine its operating costs. For comparison purposes, Union Pacific provided incomplete cost data for 1997 and 1998 as well as eleven months of recorded cost information (\$149,750) for 2000. Union Pacific broke down its operating costs into 10 cost categories and provided background description for such costs. (Appendix B summarizes Union Pacific's costs from 1997 through November 2000.)

ORA challenges Union Pacific's request of approximately \$34,000 for water-hauling costs. ORA believes that higher rates will encourage conservation and eliminate the need for water-hauling. In cross-examination, ORA's witness clarified that it did not claim that any of Union Pacific's other operating costs were unreasonable or unnecessary.

We will reject Union Pacific's proposed water-hauling costs. We agree with ORA that a rate increase should promote conservation. Further, in 2000 Union Pacific's water-hauling costs showed a steep declining trend from the costs incurred in 1999. Thus, for ratemaking purposes we will reduce Union Pacific's proposed operating costs by \$34,698 to \$118,054.

#### 2. Depreciation and Return on Capital

Union Pacific reports \$616,313 in capital expenditures incurred in 1997 and 2000. In 1997, Union Pacific asserts it incurred capital improvement costs of \$609,226 for replacement of a water line from its storage tank to customer meters. In 2000, Union Pacific states it incurred capital improvement costs of \$7,087 for replacement of a water line over Three Peaks Ranch.

Union Pacific also asserts that it made these capital expenditures to bring the water system into compliance with DHS requirements and address the deteriorating condition of 100 year old line. Union Pacific provided a letter from

DHS concerning the water line that was the subject of the year 2000 improvement. The letter confirms a conversation with a property owner (not Union Pacific) and primarily emphasizes health issues over drinking water quality.

ORA acknowledges that replacement of the water line in 1997 may have improved the quality of the water by reducing iron content. However, ORA contends that capital expenditures should be disallowed because the railroad benefited from the improvement. In cross-examination, the ORA witness acknowledged that the line was over a hundred years old and also admitted to having no knowledge as to the condition of the line that was replaced. Further, the ORA witness testified that he had no basis or facts to challenge the necessity of the capital expenditure. At hearing, the following questioning of ORA's witness took place concerning Union Pacific's 1997 capital expenditure for replacing a line:

- Q What is the basis for your testimony that this cost represents a benefit to the operation of the railroad, so that it should be borne exclusively by Union Pacific?
- A [T]he water system is a high-expense system. And any improvement to the lines or would have to be a reasonable and prudent change in the lines. And at this point at that time at that time of the report, prior to the report, even if it was an old line, I believe that the line could have served the people of the community.
- Q Were you aware of how old the water line was?
- A Not a specific age, no.
- Q Do you have an understanding that that water line was over 100 years old?
- A Looking at the dates, yes.

- Q Do you have an understanding as to the condition of that water line?
- A No. [Objection Omitted]
- Q Are there any other facts that form the basis of your opinion in Paragraph 4.6 of Exhibit 1 that cost versus benefit represents a benefit to the operation of the railroad, such that the railroad should bear the total cost?
- A No.
- Q So the sum and substance of that testimony is that, one, this is a highly expensive water system to operate, and two, any improvement would have had to have been reasonable?
- A Not any improvement; necessary improvements.
- Q Any necessary improvements would have had to have been reasonable. Do you have any factual basis today to claim that this was not a necessary expense?
- A Not that the railroad has provided me.
- Q Has anyone else provided you -
- A No.
- Q Do you have any facts as you sit here today to support your contention that it was not a reasonable expense?
- A No.
- Q And just so I understand your prior response regarding the necessity of the improvement, you have no facts to indicate that this was not a necessary improvement, correct?
- A That's correct.

Although, ORA and several other parties opposed Union Pacific's capital expenditures as possibly too expensive and not in line with costs incurred by other similar size utilities, no specific facts were offered to challenge the

necessity or reasonableness of Union Pacific's capital expenditures. The record supports a finding that Union Pacific's capital expenditures of \$609,226 were necessary and reasonable.

Union Pacific appears to use a 30 year life for its capital expenditures and thus calculates an annual depreciation expense of \$20,543, which appears reasonable.

Union Pacific uses a return of 9% and calculates an annual return on capital of \$55,468. No party challenged Union Pacific's return on capital. Union Pacific's 9% return of \$55,468 appears reasonable.

#### 3. Water Consumption

Union Pacific projected water consumption of 10,680,854 gallons for year 2000.6 However, Union Pacific contends in its initial testimony (exhibit 3) that water consumption should be adjusted in calculating rates to account for the fact that one customer, the Edwards Family (which owns the Three Peaks Ranch), receives approximately 48,000 gallons of free water per month. Further, Union Pacific believes water consumption should be adjusted if the Commission finds that Union Pacific is not obligated to serve particular customers.

ORA established during cross-examination of Union Pacific's witness, Mr. Lyon, that Union Pacific provided free water to customer Edwards in exchange for the railroad having access across the Edwards property. Lyon testified during ORA's cross-examination that such access provides a benefit to the railroad by giving it access to railroad property that the railroad may not be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Union Pacific used actual consumption amount for January 2000 through November 2000 of 9,859,250 and projected December 2000 consumption of 821,604 gallons.

able to get to on its own right-of-way roads. Lyon testified that the water system might also benefit because "a piece of the water line" goes across the Edwards property and serves two customers, including Edwards.

Union Pacific clearly benefits from providing free water to Edwards. Union Pacific admits use of a right-of-way for its own railroad operations. Union Pacific's claim that the customers of the water system benefit from giving free water to Edwards is not persuasive. Union Pacific's lack of detail on the necessity of running a line on the Edward's property in order to serve the Cummings Ranch is not persuasive. The situation is analogous to the railroad bartering water for a service or benefit. To the extent Edwards takes water from the Keene Water System, Union Pacific should pay for the cost of such water since it receives a benefit from Edwards.

We will use Union Pacific's projected consumption of 10,680,854 gallons in 2000 to establish water rates.

#### 4. Water Rates

Based on the following costs:

TOTAL COST	\$194,065	
Return on Capital (9%)	\$55,468	
Depreciation	\$20,543	
Operating Cost	\$118,054	

and water consumption of 10,680,854 gallons per year, we authorize Union Pacific to file tariffs to establish interim water rates of \$18.17 per thousand gallons, which will be subject to refund pending Union Pacific's next general

rate case for the Keene Water System.

#### B. Abandonment of Service

Although we stated in the OII we would consider abandonment of service, Union Pacific did not submit sufficient testimony to address the impact

on customers from abandonment. Union Pacific may file an application to transfer the system.

#### IX. Objections to Stonybrook's Testimony

Union Pacific objected to the admission of portions of Stonybrook's testimony. We agree with Union Pacific, and will strike those portions of Stonybrook's testimony identified by Union Pacific as argumentative and legal conclusion.

On July 11, 2001, Union Pacific also filed a motion requesting permission to suspend service to two customers. In a letter dated July 27, 2001, Union Pacific withdrew its motion.

#### X. Comments on Proposed Decision

On November 19, 2001, the principal hearing officer's proposed decision was filed with the Commission and served on the parties in accordance with Section 311(d) of the Public Utilities Code and Rule 77.1 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure. Comments were filed by Union Pacific on January 9, 2002. We discuss those comments below.

#### A. Estoppel

Union Pacific contends that the Commission is estopped from asserting jurisdiction over Union Pacific in relation to its operation of the Keene Water System. Union Pacific states that the Commission is estopped because the Commission previously held in D.97-09-014 that the Keene Water System is not a public utility system and nothing has changed since that holding was made.

The standard for estoppel is as follows:

Generally speaking, four elements must be present in order to apply the doctrine of equitable estoppel: (1) the party to be estopped must be apprised of the facts; (2) he must intend that his conduct shall be acted upon, or must so act that the party asserting the estoppel had a right to believe it was so intended: (3) the other party must be ignorant of the true state of facts; and (4) he must rely upon the conduct to his injury.

(<u>Driscoll v. City of Los Angeles</u> (1967) 67 Cal.2d 297, 305.) In the case of estoppel against a government agency the person asserting estoppel must also "demonstrate that the injury to his personal interest if the government is not estopped exceeds the injury to the public interest if the government is estopped." (<u>Stewart v. City of Pismo Beach</u> (1995) 35 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1600, 1607.)

In this instance, Union Pacific fails to meet the second prong for establishing estoppel. Union Pacific appears to suggest that the Commission is estopped by D.97-09-014 from exercising jurisdiction over Union Pacific with respect to its operation of Keene Water System. Union Pacific places far too much weight on D.97-09-014. In C.89-06-051, the docket was inactive for approximately six years. The specific conduct or action the Commission took in D.97-09-014 was to order dismissal of C.89-06-051 without prejudice for lack of prosecution. We find that a Commission order dismissing a case without prejudice for lack of prosecution fails to establish conduct upon which the Commission can be estopped from exercising jurisdiction over Union Pacific concerning its operation of the Keene Water system.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> C.89-06-051 was filed on June 26, 1989, the National Farm Workers Service Center (the service center is now occupied by Stoneybrook Corporation) asserted among other things that SP had dedicated portions of the Keene Water system to the public use. Further, the Farm Workers asserted that such dedication rendered SP a water public utility with respect to the operations of the Keene Water System. In C.89-06-051, the parties requested time for discovery leading to a possible motion for a possible summary judgment for SP. It appears that no such motion was ever made and D.97-09-014 was subsequently issued on September 3, 1997, dismissing the case without prejudice for lack of prosecution.

Even assuming the Commission were estopped from relying on Union Pacific's conduct prior to 1991 in exercising jurisdiction over Union Pacific. Such an estoppel would not immunize Union Pacific from being found a water utility for conduct occurring subsequent to 1991. In fact, the OII acknowledged D.97-09-014 and stated that a review of D.97-09-014 and D.75769 (a prior complaint) reveals that neither complaint against SP was resolved on the merits. The OII stated:

Both cases were truncated and the Commission never reached the question of SP's public utility status. Because the Commission's 1997 decision (D.97-09-014) does not reveal the changes in SP's water service activities that occurred during the 1990's.

Thus, the OII stated that activities in the 1990's may have relevance on the status of the railroad as a public utility with respect to its operation of the water system.

#### **B.** Customers

Union Pacific asserts that the PD fails to specify which customers should be served. Union Pacific contends that all customers are not similarly situated and that all are not entitled to water service. In support of its position, Union Pacific cites an agreement with Steve Cummings not to supply water and also D.97-09-014 for the proposition that Stonybrook is estopped from establishing a right to receive water.

As discussed above, D.97-09-014 dismissed a complaint without prejudice for lack of prosecution. It should not provide a basis for terminating service to Stonybrook. In this proceeding, we did not single out any existing customer for termination of service in the event the Keene Water System was found to be a water utility. Union Pacific should continue to provide water

to all existing customers as of the date of the initiation of this OII so long as the water consumed is paid for.

#### C. Abandonment of Service

Union Pacific asserts that the PD fails to address Union Pacific's proposed abandonment of service. In its comments Union Pacific cites the following testimony to support its request for abandonment:

"As the Commission has recognized, the railroad has long desired to terminate its involvement with the water system, and it should be permitted to abandon the system." (Exhibit 3 at page 21.)

In this proceeding the Commission stated it would consider the issue of abandonment and further provided the parties an opportunity to address the issue of abandonment of service in the event Union Pacific was found to be a water utility with respect to its operation of the Keene Water System. However, Union Pacific did not present sufficient evidence for the Commission to consider this issue. The one sentence of testimony identified by Union Pacific clearly expresses its desire to abandon service but does not provide a basis for allowing an abandonment of service. The PD should be clarified to state that Union Pacific provided insufficient testimony to justify abandonment of the Keene Water System.

#### D. Dedication

Union Pacific asserts that the evidence does not support the PD's finding of implied dedication. Union Pacific suggests that the railroad's application requesting a franchise from Kern County to build a water pipeline is insufficient evidence to conclude that a dedication has occurred.

Union Pacific contends that the PD too narrowly interprets Gov. Code Section 26001. Union Pacific argues that a franchise may be granted for "all lawful purposes," not uses limited to the "public use" as the PD suggests. Thus, Union Pacific argues that a franchise may be granted for purposes other than "public use." Consequently, Union Pacific explains that the railroad simply applied for the "privilege" of placing a new water pipeline along the county roadway in order to address the concerns of DHS over the condition of the existing water main.

Although, Union Pacific offers a broader statutory interpretation of Gov. Code Section 26001, it offers no specific examples of franchises being granted which do not involve "public use" or discuss "privileges." However, we need not resolve that issue here because the facts are inconsistent with Union Pacific's position. The railroad's application for a franchise does not mention the concerns of DHS. Further, Union Pacific's franchise application states that the pipeline is to furnish water for "community use." Moreover the railroad states that in the franchise application that the existing line is not in the count right-of-way. The record does not contain any documented directive from DHS to replace an existing pipeline on county roadway.

Although Union Pacific offers a theoretical alternative interpretation of Gov. Code Section 26001, the facts of this case still support a conclusion that the railroad dedicated the water pipeline when it made representations of community use in applying for a franchise to locate a pipeline on county roads.

#### E. Rates

Union Pacific contends that the PD arbitrarily and unconstitutionally fails to establish water rates reflective of the costs of providing service and capital expenditures. Union Pacific contends that the issue of establishing a water rate for the system is a central part of this proceeding since its inception. Union Pacific observes that the ALJ and parties agreed at the August 4, 2000

PHC, that the evidentiary hearing should be delayed until February 2001, so that parties could address rates.

The record supports the position of Union Pacific that the record is sufficient to establish rates. The PD erred in concluding that the information presented at hearing is too preliminary to establish rates. All parties were provided notice that rates would be set in this proceeding. In fact, ORA requested a seven-month delay for the specific purpose of analyzing the Keene Water System and proposing rates.

Although ORA presented very limited testimony on rates and recommended that Union Pacific file an application to set rates, Union Pacific offered a proposal for setting rates. Moreover, Union Pacific provided ORA an opportunity to review its proposal including the provision of backup documentation concerning its costs. Consequently, the PD should be modified to set rates for the Keene Water System.

#### F. Keene Housing

Union Pacific objects to the discussion in the PD concerning housing in Keene. The PD states that:

"The record reflects that most of the housing in Keene was built by the railroad for its employees. The railroad subsequently sold those houses to non-employees. Nothing provided prospective house buyers with constructive notice of the railroad's intention to provide the water strictly on a surplus basis and as an accommodation. Most current homeowners purchased their homes believing the railroad would continue to provide water for the community."

Further, finding of fact number 8 states:

"Most current homeowners purchased their homes believing the railroad would continue to supply water to the Community." The discussion and finding of fact 8 stem from the testimony of Brigit Beard whose testimony is based upon discussions with her neighbors. Union Pacific contends that reliance upon such hearsay fails to preserve its substantial rights. Additionally, Union Pacific asserts that the discussion and proposed finding do not clearly relate to the issues of this case. Lastly, Union Pacific also makes a procedural objection to the admission of Beard's testimony.8

We do not agree with the suggestion that hearsay testimony automatically precludes admission of testimony. We observe that much of the testimony of Union's Pacific's witness Lyon is based on hearsay conversations with former employees. Regardless, we agree with Union Pacific that finding of fact 8 has minor relevance to the issues we resolve. Thus, we will modify the PD to eliminate finding of fact 8.

#### **Findings of Fact**

- 1. Over 80 years ago, SP constructed, operated, and maintained a water system for the purpose of supplying water for steam locomotives and railroad facilities. A pipeline carried water from Tehachapi to Keene and Caliente.
- 2. In the 1960's, SP's need for water substantially diminished with the retirement of steam locomotives.
- 3. Starting in the 1990's, and continuing to the present time, the Keene Water System was and is not primarily used by SP or Union Pacific for their own domestic or industrial purposes or for the irrigation of lands owned by SP or Union Pacific.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Union Pacific also appears to object to the admission of testimony submitted by Stonybrook. However, Union Pacific filed a motion to strike the testimony of Stonybrook which the PD granted. Thus, we fail to understand Union Pacific's objection concerning Stonybrook.

- 4. In 1994, SP abandoned the pipeline from Tehachapi to Keene.
- 5. In 1994, SP drilled new water supply wells in Keene.
- 6. In 1996, SP applied for a nonexclusive franchise to build a water pipeline for community use.
- 7. Union Pacific (after merging with SP) performed substantial repairs to the water system in 1997, at a time when the system was no longer used in railroad operations.
- 8. D.97-09-014 dismissed C.89-06-051 without prejudice for lack of prosecution.
- 9. In 2000, Union Pacific's water-hauling costs declined from the previous year.
- 10. Union Pacific's proposed operating costs should be reduced by \$34,698 to \$118,054.
- 11. Water consumption should be not be adjusted to reflect water consumed by the Edwards Family which owns the Three Peaks Ranch.
- 12. Edwards or Union Pacific should pay for water delivered from the Keene Water System to Edwards or the Three Peaks Ranch.
  - 13. Union Pacific benefits from having access across the Edwards property.
  - 14. The testimony of Stonybrook contains legal argument.

#### **Conclusions of Law**

- 1. To constitute a public utility, there must be a "dedication" of property to the public use. Dedication may be express or may be implied from conduct.
- 2. Based on the conduct of Union Pacific and SP, the Keene Water System has been dedicated to public use.
- 3. The Keene Water System is a public utility water system under Section 2701.

- 4. Section 2704 does not exempt the Keene Water System from Commission regulation.
- 5. D.97-09-014 does not estoppe the Commission from exercising jurisdiction over the operation of the Keene Water system.
- 6. Union Pacific should continue to provide water to all existing customers as of the date of the initiation of this OII so long as the water consumed is paid for.
- 7. Union Pacific did not present sufficient evidence for the Commission to consider the issue of abandonment.
- 8. Union Pacific's proposed water-hauling costs should not be included in its operating costs.
  - 9. Higher water rates should promote conservation.
- 10. Union Pacific's capital expenditures of \$609,226 appear necessary and reasonable.
- 11. A 30 year depreciation life for capital expenditures for water line replacements appears reasonable.
  - 12. An annual depreciation expense of \$20,543 appears reasonable.
  - 13. An annual return of 9% on capital appears reasonable.
  - 14. An annual return on capital of \$55,468 appears reasonable.
- 15. Union Pacific projected water consumption of 10,680,854 gallons for year 2000 appears reasonable.
- 16. A system consumption of 10,680,854 gallons should be used to establish water rates.
- 17. Union Pacific should be authorized to file tariffs to establish water rates of \$18.17 per thousand gallons.
- 18. Union Pacific should file tariffs to establish a water rate of \$18.17 per thousand gallons.

19. Today's decision should be made effective immediately so that the operation of the Keene Water System may be swiftly brought into conformity with statutes and regulations governing public utilities.

#### ORDER

#### **IT IS ORDERED** that:

- 1. Union Pacific Railroad Company (Union Pacific) shall file tariffs within 60 days establishing a water rate of \$18.17 per thousand gallons.
  - 2. Union Pacific shall continue to serve all existing water customers.
  - 3. Union Pacific may file an application to transfer the Keene Water System.
- 4. The motion of Union Pacific to strike portions of the testimony of Stonybrook Corporation is granted in full.
  - 5. This proceeding is closed.This order is effective today.Dated \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, at San Francisco, California.

### **APPENDIX A:**

# Summary of Agreements Between Union Pacific/Southern Pacific and Water Customers in the Kern County Communities of Keene and Woodford

#### 1. Upper and Lower Keene Groups Agreements

Two agreements between SP and Elmer Brown (Upper Keene Group, 1954) and SP and Keene Lower Group (1960) provide:

Railroad hereby permits Licensee, as a matter of accommodation, and not as a legal right, to take and appropriate temporarily such surplus water from the water system of Railroad as is available and can be spared in the judgment of Railroad at Woodford (Keene), County of Kern, State of California; it being expressly understood and agreed that the railroad is not engaged, nor does it intend to engage, in the business of developing, supplying or distributing water to Licensee, the public or any one else for domestic, manufacturing, or any other purpose, and, in consideration of the accommodation service given by Railroad hereunder, Licensee hereby expressly waives all claim against said Railroad for failure at any time to furnish water to Licensee.

These agreements remain in effect and are subject to termination on thirty days' written notice. There is a supplemental agreement with Elmer Brown (Upper Keene Group, 1959).

# 2. National Farm Workers Service Center/Stonybrook Corporation Agreements

SP and National Farm Workers Service Center, Inc. (the parent company of Stonybrook, hereafter referred to as Stonybrook) adjudicated their respective rights in Superior Court. The judgment entered provides that:

The NFW may continue to divert water from the SP water line at a rate not to exceed 30,000 gallons per day, expense free, until December 31, 1985. Southern Pacific and the NFW shall execute a

surplus water agreement for the delivery of water during 1986 in the form attached as Exhibit B. Southern Pacific shall have no obligation to deliver water to the NFW after December 31, 1986. (Southern Pacific Transportation Company v. National Farm Workers Service Center, Inc., Superior Court, Kern County, Case No. 179754, entered August 22, 1986.)

An emergency water agreement entered into between SP and Stonybrook on January 15, 1988, for a maximum of thirty days provides:

Railroad hereby permits Licensee, as a matter of neighborly accommodation, and not as a legal right, to take and appropriate temporarily such surplus water from the water system of Railroad as is available and can be spared in the judgment of the Railroad at B-Main Engineer's Station 13476+65.0, County of Kern, State of California; it being expressly understood and agreed that the Railroad is not engaged, nor does it intend to engage, in the business of developing, supplying or distributing water to Licensee, the public or any else for domestic, manufacturing, or any other purpose, and Railroad's water supply has not been and is not now dedicated to public use . . .

The parties entered into subsequent emergency water agreements in August, September, and October, 1988. The last agreement remained in effect until December 31, 1988.

#### 3. Kern County Fire Department Agreement

In June 1992, SP and Kern County entered into an emergency water agreement for the Kern County Fire Department to remain in effect until December 31, 1992. The agreement provides:

The Railroad hereby permits the Licensee, as a matter of neighborly accommodation, and not as a legal right, to take and appropriate temporarily such water from the water system of the Railroad as is available and can be spared in the judgment of the Railroad at lower Keene. All water delivered hereunder shall be delivered by the Railroad to the Licensee on the downstream side of the Railroad's meter on the Railroad's pipeline at lower Keene. . . The Licensee hereby acknowledges that . . . (c) the Railroad is not engaged, nor does it intend to engage, in the business of developing, supplying or distributing water to the Licensee, the public or anyone else for domestic, manufacturing, or other purposes, (d) the Railroad's water supply has not been and is not now dedicated to public use . . .

The original agreement was amended several times to remain in effect until December 31, 1994. The agreement has expired, but Union Pacific continues to provide water to the Kern County Fire Department.

#### 4. Cummings Settlement Agreement

SP and the Cummings entered into an agreement in the early 1980's that permitted the Cummings to connect to the railroad's water system. SP/Union Pacific and the Cummings disagreed on the specific terms of that agreement. In an April 2000 settlement agreement, Union Pacific and Barbara and Steven Cummings agreed that Cummings would be responsible for all water from and after May 1, 2000, and Cummings agreed to relinquish any disputed claimed right for the supply of water by Union Pacific to Cummings.

#### 5. Schneider and Barker (Three Peaks Ranch) Easement

On December 1, 1997, Schneider and Barker granted Union Pacific an easement. Union Pacific agreed:

Subject to the availability of adequate water from its wells in Keene, to supply [Schneider and

Barker] with water . . . [Schneider and Barker] shall have the right to not more than 48,000 gallons of water per month free of charge. If [Schneider and Barker] uses any water above that monthly amount, [Schneider and Barker] shall pay [Union Pacific] at rates equal to the rates [Union Pacific] normally charges its other water customers in the Keene area.

The easement is irrevocable.

#### 6. Tony Martin Connection

Union Pacific provided a direct connection to Tony Martin, a former customer in the Lower Keene Group, at his request in 1997. The line to Martin was in poor condition and in serious need of replacement.

## (END OF APPENDIX A)

# APPENDIX B: Union Pacific's Operating Cost for the Keene Water System

#### **APPENDIX B**

<b>Cost Category</b>	<u>1997</u>	<u>1998</u>	<u>1999</u>	2000(YTD)
Water Analytical	\$16,774	\$5,866	\$5,998	\$3,440
Chlorination	\$8,370	\$1,735	\$3,078	\$4,652
<b>Water Hauling</b>	\$236,790	\$7,074	\$34,698	\$22,840
<b>Permits and Fees</b>	\$7,721	\$8,290	\$3,827	\$14,503
Contractor Maintenance and Repair	\$26,800	\$ 0	\$4,470	\$21,973
<b>Technical Consultant</b>	Unknown	\$10,855	\$15,697	\$17,877
<b>Vehicle Costs</b>	Unknown	Unknown	\$13,437	\$12,317
Electricity	Unknown	Unknown	\$5,317	\$5,198
Labor (UPRR)	Unknown	Unknown	\$58,370	\$46,892
Maintenance Materials (UPRR)	Unknown	\$4,382	\$7,860	\$10,058
Total	\$315,209	\$56,986	\$152,752	\$149,750

(END OF APPENDIX B)

# **APPENDIX C: Appearances**

#### **APPEARANCES**

#### \*\*\*\*\*\* APPEARANCES \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Bridget Beard PO BOX 118 KEENE CA 93531 (661) 822-3823 reigler@cybersurfers.net

For: SELF

Donna Christy PO BOX 67 KEENE CA 93531 (661) 822-3448

For: SELF

Mark Dowdle PO BOX 274 BAKERSFIELD CA 93302-0274 (661) 664-3233 mdowdle@csub.edu For: DOWDLE

Wayne Williamson EXCELLENCE BY DESIGN 701 EL DORADO ST. VALLEJO CA 94590 (707) 552-5699 salt001@zeronet.net

For: EXCELLENCE BY DESIGN

Peter G. Fairchild Legal Division RM. 5038 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 (415) 703-2049 pgf@cpuc.ca.gov

For: WATER DIVISION - RATEPAYER REPRESENTATION BRANCHPeter G. Fairchild

Legal Division RM. 5038

505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102

(415) 703-2049

pgf@cpuc.ca.gov

For: WATER DIVISION - RATEPAYER REPRESENTATION BRANCH

Margaret Henderson Property Owner/Water Consumer 30166 WOODFORD-TEN ROAD KEENE CA 93531 (661) 822-5608 For: SELF

Emilio J. Huerta Attorney At Law LAW OFFICE OF EMILIO J. HUERTA 108 SOUTH ROBINSON STREET TEHACHAPI CA 93561 (661) 823-9300

For: CUSTOMER STONYBROOK CORPORATION

Robert C. Bylsma Attorney At Law UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD 10031 FOOTHILLS BLVD. SUITE 200 ROSEVILLE CA 95747

For: UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD COMPANY

Ronald L. Wade UPPER KEENE WATER USER PO BOX 37 KEENE CA 93531 (661) 822-6698 For: UPPER KEENE

# (END OF APPENDIX C)